
Midclletovn, Delaware 

M1ddleto-rn, Dola,-16\rc , loc;ated about 24 rnilom south o,t Wilmington 
i_s an 1tarly ero&oJrOadasto·tm., and one o.r the fov old Dela'tffU"e towns 
not on a navigable watorway. It vns origi.nali7 a tavern atop about 
balt-w.ay ""n tho old oart road that e x.tand3 acPosa the psninaula 
between Appoquinirnink Craok and Bohemia Landing on th-& eaatarn branch 
of tha Bohemia !li111sr. L!lter the Up;u~r K!.ng 1 e H!ghW&.y rr.ill t!u'-ougb. 
bore .from Wilmington south. 

Adam ?eterson took or. varranta for th~ land , whi ·b later bec~c 
Uh,$ town o,f ,Jiddleto¥?1, j 'l! 1675; the first 1'urvey being made L11. 16?8 . 
His widow IBIIU\'riec1 David Witherspoon, a native or Londonderry, I reland , 
and they 9"4tttled upon t-ba King' a lt.tgh:wa,y st bhe croesroo.ds , .fir•at 
known as Mrs. Blackiatrm•s Cornez.. At tbi3 31te W!..thero~1oont a Tavern 
was built in 1761. , 

Middletm.m was onl.:, a C-roes-:~oada hmtlt?Jtao.f a. f aw houses i n 1 ql6 J 

but by the midc!.lo or the c en't.urj"' it waE1 a vill ago or 366 iliLisbitar.t:L 
As grain J;;1Gr0bants and other-ssoottled here the 9'lll.a.g.e gradu!illy 
dovelope-d altound the tav&rn. Prom 1850 t-o 1875 tho town "boomed .f:::-,~m 
the '?l'O~ita 0£ the p~aeh industry 

Middletown wa ineorpoisatad 0n Peb. 12, 1861. 1'he first Council 
dec ided that th~ town should be vne mile square oommenc1ng at the 
center or the crosaroado and extend1.ng 0ns-haLf ~lo 1n aaoh direction. 

Among the ~ld building: is the i:iid&letown Ac~deroy or~'l tad in 1826 
and. used as a. private school. untiil 1076 .. 1

) A small public aehool we.s 
built about l 30 vn School.house LQn~; . near the s{te of~ t.tUmery ~) 
conuucteci by Philip Reading, s.on or the .Rev.Philip Reading, tho last 
mi.saion&ryaaent b;y th& Soc.iaty t ea:- th~ ::ropagation 0£ the Gospel to 
St/ Anne• s Chul'c!l ?ari:ab. J)Tb.e Town lt!lll ie beadqwarters fur Uniot1 
Lodge #5 AF & AM, the oldest Mason1 , Ledge in Delaware, with ~inutes 
s .tant .fr-orn 17~. 

'I) 
Middletown i3 lo~ated in nn agricultuPal region in whleh ;he chief' 

prc duets &rtl •~om , o-m.all gl"a~s ~ ·.1egetables, and dai.17--1,rcn:mcts .t? The 
population in 1900nwas 1$507 ; in 1961 lt was 2,2mm. t/ 

fhe 1'own la govarnedt by a Me.yor and Council who serve J."or two 
y$.Rs. 

Places of' intor&st include _Qld .St,. Anne's Churzb. established :in 
.Jmci DrAV16l'" ..... S- Prai{ijte:rian .C~UPth ouil.t i."'l 
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VILLAGES.-The land on which Mount Pleasant is 
situated was owned in 1705 by John Davids. It was 
owned during the Revolutionary War by William 
Birrl, and descended to his <laughters, Mrs. Buchanan 
and Mrs. Mary Scott. At an early date there was 11, 

hotel here kept by Zachariah Jones, but it has not 
been med as such for sixty years. The land on which 
the village is located is a water-shed, the waters west 
flowing into the CheRapeake,· and the !!t1·earns e11.st 
into the Delaware. In 1845 there were four houses, 
all of which are now torn down. At present there is 
a railroad station, a post-office, two stores (kept re­
spectively by J. F. Elia~on and Mrs. Eliza Devereaux), 
a bla(!_ks1llith and wheelwright-shop and thirteen resi­
dences. It is situated in the northwestern part of the 
hundred, on the line of the Delaware Railroad, from 
Wilmington to Middletown . 

Armstrong's Corner is a small village situated be­
tween Middletown and Mount Pleasant. It contains 
a stotll kept by W. H. Science, a brick-yard, a Pres­
byterinn Chapel, a wheelwright and blacksmith-shop 
and about twenty dwellings. 

Macdonough, formerly called the "Trap," is a, 

hamlet near the centre of the hundred. It occupies 
a portion of the " Trap" farm. It was so named 
in honor of Commodore Macdonough, who lil·ed 
here. At one time there were three hotels here. 
The most famous one was kept by William and 
Patrick McConaughey, but has not been in existence 
for the pnst th.irty yE',lrd. 'fl.le vil111ge now contains a 
post-office, n store (kept by Hnrrison Vandegrift), a 
1 beehvriglit and blackijmith-shop. tl sd1ool-house and 
abouL eight residences. 

St. Angustjne Piers is a famous summer resort and 
picnic-grounds. The hotel wus first built in 1814 bv 
G-rier & Aiken, and operuted for some years n11d the; 
abandoned. It is a three-story brick building, forty 
by sixLy feet. In 18GS imcou. Lor(( purchased the 
property. Since it has been in liis possession a new 
dining-room, dancing pnvilioo, bar-room, wharf nod 
oue hu11dretl bath-house,s hnve been erected and tlie 
premises improved generally. It is conclucted as a 
hotel, and hus a good summer patronnge. The 
steamer "'l'homas Cl}·de " makes a daily trip between 
here and Philadelphia. Port Penn is three-quarters 
of a mile di~tant. 

The post-office at Mount Pleasant was established 
about 1867. Harrison Vandegrift, the first post-mas­
ter, 11•a • succeeded April 8, 18 0, by J. Frank Eliason 
the present incumbent. The office occupies -11, portio~ 
of his i;tore-room. 

PoRT PENN GRANGE, No. 9, P. OF H. was organ­
ized in the Hickory Grove School-house April 21, 
1S75, with a membership of thirty-one. The first 
officers of the society were: Master, Thomas F. Dil­
worth; OverHeer, Joseph Clea Yer; Lecturer, T. J. 
Ornven; Chaplain, H. Price; Steward, A. 0. Osborne; 
.A.~si.sLant Steward, John McM:ulleo ; Treasurer, L. G. 
Vandegrift; Secretary, James McMullen. 

The society met in the school-roow for about a year, 
63 

and then in a room in the house of George Cleaver, 
whence they moved to Port Penn in 1881. In 1884 
they erected a hall near the residence of James Mc­
Mullen, about four miles from Port Penn. It is a 
two-story frame building, twenty-·eight by forty feet, 
and cost twelve hnndred dollars. The lodge is now 
in afl_ourishing condition,and numbers fifty members. 
It is officered at present as follows: Master, D. W. 
Corbit; Overseer, James McMullen; Secretary, Mrs. 
E. M. Dilworth; Treasurer, H. Price; Steward, D. C. 
Vail; Chaplain, G. W. Townsend. 

MIDDLETOWN. 

The land on which Middletown is situated and 
the tract immediately to the north were tak~n up 
by Adam Peterson in 1678,., who, on the 14th of 
March1 1686, also took out a warrant for two hun­
dred acres on a Mck called New Wells between 
the branches of the head-water8 of Drawy;r's Creek. 
Upon his death the property appears not to have been 
?ivided, but was mainly in possPssion of Andrew 
Peterson, who died in January, 1741; and on March 
29, 1742, Thomas Noxon, Jehn Curtis, John Finney, 
John Goodin and John McCoole were appointed to di­
vide the property. Adam Peterson left two son~, An­
drew and Adam, and a daughtP,r, Hermania, who mar­
ried-- Von Bebber and died comparatively young 
leaving as children Jacob, Garrett, Andrew, Adam: 
Elinor and Elizabeth. In this division of 1742 these 
heirs of Hermania Von Bebber received one-fifth of 
the estate. Andrew Peterson died in January, 1741, 
leaving a widow (his third wife), Hester, who subse­
quently became the wife of David Witherspoon, and 
wbo, in 1742, was appointed the guardian of the chil­
dren of Andrew, who were Henry, Andrew, Catalina, 
Jacob, Esler and Mary. The remaining portion of the 
Adam Peter.son lands was divided between Adam the 
son of Adam, and the children of Andrew. Mary 
Peterson, the youngest daughter of Andrew, received 
in the division No. 7, a tract of two hundred and five 
acres, three acres of which were sold August 19, 1790, 
to Rev. Philip Reading. Henry Peterson, son of 
Andrew, became a physician and, June 13, 1790, sold 
part of his portion of hi~ father's estate to Jesse 
Higgins, of Damascus Mills. 

David Witherspoon, who married the widow of 
Andrew Peterson, settled upon the King's Road at the 
place now known aa Middletown, where, in 1761, he 
built the old Middletown tavern and kept it until his 
<lea: h, two years later. The following petition to the 
court of New Castle in 1761 is interesting as coming 
from the people of the vicinity: 

"Whereas there ha.th not heretofore been any publick RoCl.d from the 
Lowur;Klug1 s tlu,111 tu S!ltnuul Vnncu'a Mlll for tl, o tnhnlli1>&111t residing 
in lho 111,por Jll<rl or thu 11bovo snlil hmuh·•d (i:,t. l!loorge"•l 1111<l u,,10;, lho 
••i\llC ln~•• R.juJ, no,• lru111 tho u.riffir l"ln;;'d Jlorul lo!nlld ,\UII forauc~ 
of 1hu_l11loull1I'.'"" who '"""illo tl1111 wn.>", Uu1 Ollly &1\cl, l,y-1111thf ~• ball 
from tune to time Ueen made uee of, which is n, very gl't!at Iucuuveui• 
enc! fur ,mch_ of the i11ha1Jitunte as do frequ ont tho said :Mill to get 
their own gram grouml or tu transport their wh~nl thitl.Jt!r fur salu. n 

The petitioner asked for a road "from the lower 
King's road which shall pass between the improved 



994 HISTORY OF DELAWARE. 

lands of William Golden and James Macdonough to • • eb ·uar 12 186.! Middl t9wn was focorporatet and 
the said mill and from thence to the upper Kings gr:rnted municipal privileges. The board of control 
road near to the new meeting-house or upper part of was vested in five commissioners who were given 
David Witherspoon's plantation." The signers were authority to improv~ the old streets and open new 
William Whittet, William Price, William Hannoway, ones. The town as laid out by the commissioners 
Daniel McConnell, F. V. Bebber, David Wither- is a rectangle, and extends half a mile each way on 
spoon, George Van Yott, James Bryan, Charles Main Street, east and west of Broad Street, and a 
Bryan, William Golden, Isaac Vandike, Jacob Pet- quarter of a mile each way on Broad Street, north and 
erson, Archibald Fowler, Thomas McGraw, James, south of Main Street. With the exception of a fire 
Piper, Jos. Macdonotigh, William Hanson, Richard · which occurred May 2, 1882, and the storm of August 
Cantwell, John Hanson, Francis Thornton, Andre1v 29, 1873, Middletown has suffered no considerable iu­
Vance, Henry Van Bebber, John McCoole, Jr., jury. This fire began in the carriage works of J. M. 
Leonard King, Francis King, Samuel Smith, David Cox & Brother, and destroyed that place and ten 
Thomas, John Cruzan, David Stewart. other buildings, among which w_as the new St. Anne's 

These names probably include all the leading land- P. E. Church. Fire companies from Wilmington 
owners in the vicinity at that time. The road was came and rendered much assistance in extinguishing 
allowed and laid out. It began at the "Trap" the flames. The storm of August 20, 1873, flooded the 
(Macdonough) and passed Vance's mill at the foot of streets, washed away the bridges in the :vicinity, and 
the pond on Drawyer's Creek and to David ,vither- made travel dangerous and difficult, besides doing 
spoon's plantation at Middletown. Richard Cant- cousiderable damage in other ways. 
well lived at Cantwell's Bridge (Odessa), and Henry Col. Joshua Clayton, a retired farmer, was the son 
Van Bebber at Kirkwood, where was an ol<l tannery of the Hon. Thomas Clayton, formerly a United 
occupied many years previous as well as later by the States Senator and a chief justice of Delaware, and 
Van Bebbers. The mill owned by Samuel Vance in was born at Dover August 2, 1802. When fifteen 
1761 was originally the property of his son John, who years of age he was a pupil in the classical school of 
built it after 1733, when he came into possestiion of Rev. Francis Hindman, at Newark, Del., and attend­
the land. He sold it to his father September 21, 1759, ed that school° for three years. In 1818 he eutered 
who, on May 19, 1766, sold it to Jobu Jones. About Princeton College. In the first half of his third 
1800 it passed to William Vandegrift and is now year here his health became so much impaired that 
owned by William H. Voshall & Bro. he was obliged to leave college. But in the same 

:Middletown is mentioned in official records ns earl year, 1821, he became a student of law in his father·s 
as 1771 in August of which year Jonas Pre,to~ office, applying himself to his studi~s as bis health 
med tlie old Noxon grist-mill, OD one of the would permit. In 1822 he went to spend a year in 
branches of Appoquinimink Creek, and asked for the law-office of Judge Alex. L . Hayes, a well-known 
the reopening of a road towards the place "now jnrist of Reading, Pa. In the following year, 1823, 
known by the name of Middletown," which road he accompanied Hon. Cmsar A. Rodney, United 
Benjamin Noxon had fenced up. States minister, as private secretary, to the Argentine 

After the death of David Witheri!poon his estate Republic. The journey thither was made on the 
passed to his nephew-, Thomas, who conducted the old old frigate "Congress," by way of Spain, the coast of 
Peterson tannery. Thomas married Susanna, daughter Africa and Rio Janeiro, to Buenos Ayres. 
of Dr. Sluyter Bouchell, who was also a resident of Three months after arriving at their destination 
Middletown. A large portion of the neighboring land Mini6ter Rodney's health failed, and Mr. Clayton was 
became nsted in Dr. Bouchell, who, November 5, sent home with dispatches for the government. Mr. 
1790, sold to Jesse Higgins, of Damascus, the tract Rodney's death, soon afterwards, made it necessa-ry 
formerly belonging to Thomas Witherspoon. In 1816 to reorganize the legation, and Col. Clayton remained 
there were e., OJJses nt the in LersecLio11 of at home. 

:Iain and DroJ! 'lreets within the present limits of Col. Clayton was admitted to the bar at Dover in 
t e ~ but the village began to grow, and in 1850 1825, and practiced law there until 1830, when, 
there were three hundred and sixty-eight inhabitants. yielding to the force of natural inclinations, he 
Previous to the construction of the railroad the town turned his attention to agricultural pursuits, and set­
was growing toward Odessa, principully on l\Iain tied at "Choptank on the Hill," in Bohemia Manor. 
Street, but since that time it has extended to the rail- At the beginning of his operations here he was com­
road, and has spread itselfon other streets than Main. pelled to incur liabilities to the extent of three bun­
One of the men most prominent in advancing local dretl dollars, whieh, at the time, appeared to be a 
interest~ was Robert A. Cochran, who came to Mid- greater undertaking than it would have seemed later. 
dletown in 1837, and pun:ha,ed the i\:Iiddletowu Hotel. He soon liquidated this debt, however, and pressed 
This he improved and purclrnsed other property, on on to greater accomplishments. For fifty-se\'en yearB 
which he erected buildings. The ••rowth of th e town Mr. Claylon left forensie competitions and juridical 
since 1855 has Leen qui te rapid, and in 18 0 tl1cre honors tu 01 her;;, "while,·' as he expressed it, "he 
were five huD1.lred ant twen·ty- :U c.:e inhal.,itants. On wrestled with tlie clods," and with" ploughs which, 
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in those days, never had a share to please him, being 

badly shaped and often made of wood "-very inferior 

to the implements of the present day. Using su­

perior judgment in the drainage and culture of hi~ 

then un promising land, by t l1e judicious use of lime 

and ditches and sub-soil ploughing, the place was 

made both productive and healthful, and has -re­

mained so. His methods were approved and followed 

by neighbors and acquaintances, among whom may be 

mentioned his long-time friend, Gov. B. T. Biggs, 

The result has been the great impro,,ement of the 

lands and a remarkable elimination of malarial influ­

ence3. C'>l. Clayton at one time owned over three 

thousand five hundrnd acres of land. Of this he 

gave two thousand four hundred acres to his ten chil­

dren. 
Before bis death he reflected with sincere satisfac­

tion upon the happy outcome of his unaided efforts. 

Four times he was commissioned colonel-first by 

Gov. Hazlet, then by Go,·. Thos. Stockton, again by 

Gov. Wm. Temple, and lastly, when war was antici­

pated with Eugland on account of the dispute over 

the boundary of Oregon. Col. Clayton was married, 

in 1833, to his cousin, Miss Lydia, daughter of Rich­

ard Clayton. She died in January, 1849, and left 

him three children,-Thom"s, Henry and Richard. 

On the 22d of February, 1850, he married Miss 

Martha E., daughter of Richard Lockwood, a well­

known merchant of Middletown. She died in March, 

1887, a few months before the untimely death ot their 

youngest Ron, Eugene, who fell a victim to the pois­

onous drugs used by him in his skillful art as a taxi­

dermist. This young man of rare taste and skill in 

the work to which he was passionately-too ardently 

-devoted, has left a large collection of birds and ani­

mals prepared with artistic excellence as proofs of 

his dexterity in "bis art, a.id as precious mementos of 

his brief life. He died in September, 1887, at the 

early age of twenty-seven. By his second marriage 

eight children were added to Col. Olaywn's family. 

Of these six: survive, viz.: Adelaide Young, McComb, 

Mary W., Joshua, Elizabeth and Frances. Colonel 

Clayton was always· an adherent of tbe Protestant 

Episcopal Church. .He died sudde.nly on February 

13, 1888, at his beautiful suburban villa; close to 

Middletown. 
Middletown has at present about sixteen hundred 

inhabitants. Excellent facilities for travel and trans­

portation are afforded by the Delaware Division of the 

Philadelphia Wilmington nnd Baltimore Railroad. 

Al though almost destitute of manufactories of any 
sort, the town is gradually growing and improving. 

Situated in th.e n1idst of :'i;.C~llent farruing 

r:f?iO~ employment is given to many of its cit.izens. 
at tj)ling tbe soil. The busine~s interes~ of the 

town are also affected by the sale and exchange of 

the abundant products of the farms in the vicinity. 

It has alway!! been well lighted,-firat by lamps 

till 1880, then by gas till 1886 and since August 

17th of that year by sixty ten-candle-power electric 

lights. Preparations are now being made to supply 

the town with water from drive well~, which will 

doubtless prove an excellent safeguard against fires. 

The following have been the town commissioners 

since the incorporation : 

1861.-Levi Ryan, Wm. L . Bucke, E . T. Evnna, John K. Smith, Ch••· 
Tu.tmn.a, Jr. 

1SV2.-Henry D. Howell, John K. Smith, R. H. Foster, M•rtin E. 

" 'a.Iker, Cl.las. T"cuurn. Jr. 
1863-64.-Henry ll. Howell, Samuel Penington, R. H. Foster, Martin 

E. Wall,or, OluIB. T~tmu.n , Jr. 
1865.-~churlnh J (me,,, William L. Bucke, Samuel Penington, Chas. 

Tatmn.n, Jr., J1tm~s CulUertson. 
1866.-H. D. Howell, Samuel Penington, Chas Ta.tman, Jr., Richard 

E. Smilh, Cll\yfon Wilda. 
1867,-Duvld McKee, Chl1.I!. Tatman, Jr., H. D. Howell, John B. 

Dt nkynu, Nimrod French. 
l MB.-Bubert A. Cochmn, Zachariah Jones, ,T. Thoma• Budd. 
1869.-Mnrtin E. \Vu.lker, John Mllrrison, Charles Ta.tma.n, Jr., Thos. 

Mo.l!Ooy. 
1870,-R. H. Foater, Thoa. Massey, Samuel W. Robert,, G. G. Cham, 

bcrh,I u, Oh1l8. Tu.tmu.n, Jr. 
l ij71.-R, H. Fuator, Thos. 111:rtSsey, G. G. Chl\mberlo.in, Thos. W. 

Buuk~, Thos. E. Hurn. 
187~.-R. II. Fostar, Thos. E. Hurn, Chas. Tatman, Jr., Jas. B. Clark• 

son, Wm. H. Cuun. 
1873.-Tllornae K Hurn, James H. Scowllrick, Sa.muel R. Stephens, 

J uh n n. llubOl'IS, Thu111us illas,jl).y. . 
18N.-Thom•• E. Huru, J 1u11os H. Scowdrlck, J. F . Eliason, L. G. 

Vandegrift, J. R. Hall. 
1875.-E. W. Lockwood, Louis P. McDowell, J. R. Hall, Joseph H. 

Wallccr, L. G. Vnndegl'irt. 
187U, -'!'ho•. E. Hurn, Geo. W. Wilsou, W. W. Wilson, Thomas Mw<­

-&ey , Jan1oa (L ~'1Wtldck. 
1877.-1{. 11 . .h',...tvr, J<lhn n.. Rull, S. S, ITolton, Juaoph W, Goar)', 
1878.-E. \V. Lock wn<)t.l, lWu _yeard; Tb.o•ULLS iU'U.:i.iOy, ,fr,, oau .\'UlLr i 

Joseph Hn11roni L\'10 jut1.h1; Oourgt1 Ei:k.ouburt,r, uuo ycm.r ; R. ti. Elia­
son, 0110. y~11. 

1879.-'J:homa• W. Bucke, on• year; R.! H. Eliason, W. Scott Way, 
Georgo Eclcenhofer, two years. 

lSSU.-Thos. W. llucke, Joseph Hunson. 
1881.-R. Henry E1iaso11J ,vm. H. Moore, Jefferson B. J!.,oard. 
1882.-Joseph HiLuaou, John C. Stuart. 
1S83.-Wm. P. lllgg,, Chua. H. lfowell, Thoo. W. Ducke. 
1684.--JOM!Vh Huu,oo1 S. ti. Uol«:I\. 
1885.-Thos. W. Ouoko, \ V'in. l'. JJiJ,l, ... , John S. Crouoh . 
1886.-Gou, Eckouhvfcr, Thus. Zti:u..uiy, two yeara ; Juoob M. Foster, 

Johu ff. J?arvis, Wm K. Loclc:·wuud, une year. 
1887.- 0co. S. Hupkins, Hu11·y Duvio, N. J. Williams. 

Sereck F. Shallcross, a farmer, was born March 29, 

1816, in Oxford township, Philadelphia County, Penn• 

sy I v:mia, Hi.:! pareu ts, J aeob Shallcross and Margaret, 

daughter of Sereck Fox, were also born in the Rame 

to.vnship, and had a family of eight children, of 

which the subject of this sketch was the eldest. His 

brothers and sisters were Ann Eliza, Mary, Catharine, 

Sarah, William, Thomas and Fanny. At his father's 

home place during his early years he was engaged in 

farming and continued this occupation in his native 

township until 1842, when he came to Delaware and 

settled near Odessa, where he now resides. In 1843, 

Mr. Shallcross was married to Ann Fenton, of Abing• 

ton township, Montgomery County, Pennsylvania. 

They have had five children, viz.: Jacob, James, 

Anna, Sereck and William. Jacob married Thirza 

Shallcross, daughter of William Shallcross, of Kent 

County, Maryland. James married Mary, daughter 

of Wilsou E. Vandegrift, of St. George's Hundred. 

Anna, who died June 18, 1887, was married to Israel 

'Williams, of Montgomery County, Pennsylvania. 

Sereck married Mary, daughter of Elias Moore, of 
.A.ppoquioimlnk Hundred. Wil.liam resides on his 

futher'M farin, the place where his father was born, in 
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Philadelphia County. William is married to Miss 
Betty Deakyne, of BlRckbird Hundred. Mr. Shall­
cross is still living on the same place to which he 
came in 1842. He has been elected five times as a 
county commissioner from St. George's Hundred, 
each term being for four years. He is now a com­
missioner serving his fifth term in the Levy Court. 
Mr. Shallcross is a man of vigorous constitution and 
bears his years and labors well. 

OLD BUILDINGs.-Pcrhaps the oldest building in 
Middletown is the frame house owned by the Mid­
dletown Academy and occupied by Jacob Heintz as 
a residence. It is the first west of the Town Hall 
and the only hip-roofed house in town. The house 
occupied by J. Thomas Budd is also very old and was 
built by a man named Lloyd from Maryland. The 
dwelling-house connected with the People's Bank is 
an old building and was for many years used as a 
store-room. In 1884 a venerable structure known as 
the" Wren's Nest" was torn down, Itstood on East 
Main Street, near Broad. An old log building, on 
the corner of Main and Church Streets, was torn 
down in 1887. It was owned by Mrs. Devereaux and 
was probably one of the fir,;t houses in the town. 
The Crawford farm-house on Broad Street, now owned 
and occupied by Jvhn A. Reynolds, dates back to the 
early days of Middletown. 

ScHOOLs.-At the division of the State into school 
districts, the territory in and around Middletown 
was embraced in District No. 60. A small school­
house was erected about 1830, on a street known as 
"School-House Lane," near the present residence of 
Josiah Blackley. At a later period the district was 
divided and No. 94 was formed. No school-house 
was erected for this district, but the school was held 
in prh•ate houses. In 1876 an agreement was made 
with the trustees of the academy for the use of the 
academy for puolic-school purpose~, and by the act 
of Assembly of January 29, 1877, Districts 60 and 
94 were consolidated under the name of the Middle­
town schools. Since the consolidation the boal'd of 
control is vested in nine directors, six elected by the 
people and three appointed by the trustees of the 
academy. The schools are in an excellent condition, 
and during the winter of1886-87 there were enrolled 
two hundred and sixty-eight resident and fifteen 
non-resident pupils. Five teacher~ preside over the 
five departments. Mr. A. S. Wright served as prin­
cipal from the consolidation of the schools until June 
24, 1887. The first board of directors of the con­
solidated districts was : Edward W. Lockwood, Wil­
liam Green, Alfred G. Cox, John "\V. Jolls, Nathaniel 
·wmiams, Samuel Penington, D. L. Dunnin,r, John 
R. Hall and Merritt N. Willits. With the exceptions 
of Edward W. Lockwood, Merritt N. Willits and 
John R. Hall, the board remaims unchanged at the 
pre,ent. Their places are fil !ed by W. P. Biggs, 
Thomas Cavender and Henry Clayton. 

MIDDLETOWN ACADEMY.-This institution was 
erected from the proceeds of a lottery authorized by 

an act of Assembly of January 3, 1824. The act 
named Richard 11:Iamfield, Arnold N audain, Outten 
Davis, William H. Cmwford and Richard E. Cochran 
as managers ·and empowered 1hem to "institute, 
carry on and draw a lottery, in one or more classe~, 
for raising a sum of money not exceeding six thou­
sand dollars clear of all expenses," and to apply this 
sum to '' the erection of a building sufficiently large 
to contain rooms for an academy and elementary 
school, and also a room for public worship, with such 
other rooms as they might deem proper and neces­
sary, the room for public wor~hip to be free for all 
denominations of Churche~." Richard Mansfield, 
Arnold Naudain, Outten Davis and William H. 
Crawford met at the house of Daniel Haines on 
December 13, 1824, and organized. John Ginn was 
elected to fill the vacancy in the board caused by the 
removal of Richard E. Cochran from the neighbor­
hood. Richard Mansfield was elected chairman and 
,vmiam H. Crawford secretary. On February 9, 
1825, a supplementary act WaH passed for raising four 
thousand dollars to be invested as an endowment 
fund. In March of the same year Outten Davis 
rPsigned and John Eddows was elected his succfssor. 
The lottery scheme was sold May 10, 1825, to John 
B. Yeates, of New York, Archibald McIntire, of 
Philadelphia, and Thomas and James Skeldig, of 
New York, for ten thousand dollars. 

On November 19, 1825, six acres of land and a 
building thereon was purchased by the trustees from 
Outten Davis for one thousand dollars. It WR!! that 
portion of lliiddletown fronting on Main Street from 
the west line of the Town Hall property to Scott 
Street and extending back to the present line of Lake 
Street at the north west corner and to the present 
academy lot on the northeast corner. On January 
21, 1826, an act was pass~ incorporating Richard 
Mansfield, John Eddows, John Ginn, William H. 
Crawford and Arnold Naudain and their successors 
as "the trustees of the Middletown Academy." At 
a meeting of the trustees in February, 1826, the 
chairman was instructed to advertise for proposals 
for "building an Academy two stories high, with two 
rooms on each floo-r, and a hall ten feet wide in the 
centre, with cellar underneath the whole; to be built 
of the best materials and in a plain but substantial 
manner." The contract was awarded to Henry Lit­
tle for five thousand dollars. 

Andrew Garretson, the tenant on the six acres 
purchased of Outten Davis, refused to surrender pos­
session. In this emergency William H. Crawford 
donated two acres of adjoining land, and on this the 
building was erected. His deed bears date l\Iay 13, 
1826. The corner-stone of the new building was 
laid August 24, 1826. In March of the following 
year William H. Crawford was requested to go to 
Philadelphia and examine the different kinds of 
rough-casting. He advised the imitation of marble 
and his suggestion was adopted. In June, Arnold 
N audain was instructed to purchas~ a bell not ex-
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ceeding one hundred and fifty pounds in weight At 

a meeting in August of that year Richard Mansfield 

wa• re-elected president and J uhn Eddows was chcsen 

secretary and Arnold Naudain treasurer. Chairman 

Crawford was appointed to contract for twenty-five 

desks. In September Rev. Joseph Wilson was en­

gaged to take charge of the school and open it on 

October 15, 1827. Miss Isabella Anderson was en­

gaged to open a female school in December. In 
1829 the Legislature empowered the board to elect 

two additional trustees, and Joseph B. Ginn and Rich­

ard Lockwood were chosen on March 27th of that year. 

In August, 1830, Mr. Wilson resigned and Samuel G. 

Appleton was elected principal. He resigned in 

Decern ber and the school was closed until 1832 when 

Henry L. Davis became principal, which position he 

held until 1834, when Mr. Smith succeeded him. In 
1838 William Harris was elected principal, and in 

April, 1840, he reported that t-here were thirty-three 

pupils in attendance and the tuition fees amounted to 

four hundred and thirty dollars. Joseph A. White 

succeeded Harris in 1841 and was in turn succeeded 

by him the following year. Rev. I. H. Tyng was 

principal from 1842 until 1844, when the academy was 

rented by Pay~on Williams, of Germantown. From 

1844 to 1876 the principals were Thomas D. Maddin, 

H. C. Fries, George F. Hitchcock, Theodore E. 
Primrose, James B. McDowell, Rufus Sanders, Rev. 

I. W. Macbeth, Charles H. Halloway,J. E. Newman, 

-- Hicks, --Wood, S. B. Jones and Sumner Stev­

ens. In 1876 an agreement was made by the school 

commiEsioners of Districts Nos . . 60 and 94 and the trus­

tees of the Academy, and the Academy leased for pub­

lic school purposes for a year. Since that time public 

school has been held in the Academy. One of the 

terms of the contract was that a free school of not 

less than three grades and also a classical or high 

school should be kept open in the Academy for not 

less than nine months in the year. Since 1876 the 

academy and free school have a common his~ory. 

The present trustees are John P. Cochran, Henry 

Davis, Nathaniel Williams, R T. Cochran, H. A. 

Nowland, William Gre_en and Samuel Penington. 

THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.-Previous to 1742 

the inhabitants of Middletown and Vicinity worship­

ped at Drawyer's Church. In that year occurred the 

great di vision of the Old and New Schools of the 

Pre~byterian faith, and the adherents of the New 

School wiLhdrew from Drawyer's Church and estab­

lished the congregations of St. George's and Forest. 

The site on which the original Forest Church was 

erected was granted by Robert Alexander to Peter 

Bayard, James Bayard, Sluyter Bouchell, Benjamin 

Sluyter, William Moore, Johµ Moody, James Shaw, 

Thomas Rothwell and John Vandyke, trustees of 

the Presbyterian congregation of Bohemia, in Mary­

land, and Appoquinimy in New Castle County, under 

the care of the Synod of New York. The deed 

bears date June 6, 1750, and is for 123 perches of 

land surveyed and laid out for the erection of a 

Presbyterian Church. The churches of St. George's 

and Forest united under one pastorate, and were 

served for sixteen years by Rev. John Rodgers, who 

was installed March 16, 1749. Dr. Rodgers was very 

popular and drew largely from : the other congrega­

tions. He was called to Wall Street Church, New 

York, in 1765. He was moderator of the First Gen­

eral Assembly of the Presbyterian Church in the 

United States. During the Revolutionary War he 

took an active part in the struggle and was appointed 

chaplain of Heath's brigade. The next pastor was 

Rev. ElihuSpencer,who served until October, 1771, and 

was succeeded by Rev. Thomas Smith, during whose· 

pastorate the two congregations separated. Mr. 

Smith continued :with the Forest Church until his 

death, in 1792. Rev. Mr. <Jheally, his successor, was 

at first very popular, but scandals affected his char­

acter, his congregation fell away, the glebe was lost 

and the church ,·erged on obliteration. It was next 

supplied by Rev. MesHs. Burton and Wilson, of 

Drawyer·s. The old edifice standing in the south­

east corner of the present cemetery fell into decay, 

and was finally sold and removed about 1840. No 

services had been held·in it after the removal of Mr. 
Wilson, and the church became extinct as a separate 

organization. After the abandonment a number of 

the people worshipped at Drawyers' Church. In 
June, 1851, through the efforts of the Rev. Dr. Handy, 

the present organization was effected. A lot of land, 

120 feet front and 150 in depth, on Main Street, 

was purchased from R. A. Cochran. The contract 

for erecting the present ·church edifice was awarded 

to David Maxwell. The building was dedicated on 

the last Sunday of Octobn, 1851, with ceremonies 

conducted by Rev. Dr. Brainerd and John Patton. 

The newly constitut~d church was composed of four­

teen me!flbers-Josepb West (elder), Francis West, 

Sarah West, Thomas Murphey, Susan Murphey, Eliza 

P. Cochran, Lydia R. Rothwell, Elizabeth Price, 

S11rah :M:erl'iLt, Lydia Jone.,i, Mary Penington, Eliza 

Mi1ssey, James Burnham nod 'Elizabeth A. Burn­

ham. 
The enterprise of erecting a building was carried on 

by individual effort, as the church was not organized, 

the se~sion was not constituted, and no board 0f trus­

tees was elected till the edifice was nearly completed. 

The first board of trustees of this organization was 

elected August 24, 1851, and was compo~ed of Dr. 

Martin Barr, Dr. John Merritt, Major John Jones, 

Major William Rothwell, Robert T. Cochran, Robert 

A. Cochran, Samuel Penington, James H. Burnham, 

Joseph West, Thoma~ Murphey, Andrew Eliason and 

William C. Parker. In August, 1857, a lot adjoining 

the church was purchased as a site for a parsonage, 

which was soon completed. During the pastorate of 

Rev. W. C. Alexander the church has been enlarged 

and beautified at an outlay of nearly eight thousand 

dollars. It is now in a flourishing condition and has 

a membership of one hundred and fifty-eight. A 

su·nday-school with a membership of one hundred 
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and twenty-five, under Superintendent Edward Rey­
nolds, is connected with the church. 

The present board of trustees is Andrew Eliason, 
Samuel Penington, H. D. Howell, R. T. Cochran, 
D. L. Dunning, J. M. Rothwell, A. P. Crockett, G. 
W. W. Naudain, T. C. Murphey, S. M. Reynolds and 
G. D. Kelley. 

The following pastors have officiated since the 
church wa$ erected in the town : 

Rev. Dr. Handy, from June, 1851, until October. 10, 185~. 
Rev. Mr. Atkinson, from September, l8fl:J, until Novemllcr, 18!i3. 
Rav. Thomas l!.,orster, from October 2.5, 185-1-, until October 3, 185::;, 
liev. W. A. Jll<nkiu, f rom June 4, 18!i7, until 1S01. 
Rov. Isaac Riloy, fro,n Murch 5, 1802, until Sa11wmbor 27, lBO!l. 
Rev. John Pu.tton, D.D., Octu1Jer, 1865, until Aptil, 188 1. 
Rev. W, C. Alexa.ntlor, from Decem1Jer1 18801 until the prAsent. 

The lot on which the former church stood is still in 
the possession of thi,i congregation and is used a~ a 
burying-ground. The present church stands on the 
site of the Peterson family cemetery, and in front of 
the church are four tombs wilh the following in­
scriptions : 

"Here lieth the Dody of DAVID W1THERsrooN, Earn in Irelo.nd, 
County of London Deri·y. Departed thi• life April 7, 1703. Aged 58 
years. 

"In memory of .TACOD PETEltBON1 Esqr., Who died Jnnnnry 7, 
1774. Aged 40 years. llis al,iliti&1 ae o. PhyBicia.n, n.nd hie ueefulne&B 
in Public and Domestic Life Render hie Death a reu.l Los::1 to a.11 cou­
cern1:,d in It." 

u In memory of ANDREW PETERSON, Esqr., Who depn.rted thie Life 
in Ju.nmLry, 1741. Agctl 58 yeara. 

"Also of his Relict, Lute Mrs. HESTRR WITHERSPOON, Who do­
parted this life on the 18th Day of Septomuer, 177t. Aged 08 years. 

u In memory of MISS PETEnBoN, Daughter of DoC'l•r PETERSON, Who 
departed thi• Life June 5, 1784. 

11 This eme.11 Tribute paid, 
"To merit unspeak11UJe." 

BETHESDA METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, Mid­
dletown, Delaware, was organized in the year 1822, 
by tbe election of Azariah Foster, Andrew Dill, 
Th0mas Merritt, John Hays and Thomas Low as 
trustees to acquire and bold property in its name. 
During the same year a humble structure costing about 
nine hundred dollars was erected for the religious 
meetings of this people. Since it bas been twice re­
built,-in 1842 under the pastorate of the Rev. B. F. 
Price, and in 1880, under the pastorate of the Rev. 
'f. E. Martindale. The present building b hand,omely 
cushioned, carpeted and frescoed, and is more than 
ordinarily attractive in all ofit:1 apartments. The con­
gregations are the largest in the community, number­
ing, in actual communicants, about three hundred, 
among whom are a number of the representative busi­
ness meu of the town, including the Hon. B. T. 
Biggs, the present Governor of the State. It has 
been blessed with several remarkable revivals, the 
largest of them occurring under the ministry of the 
Rev. L. C. Matlack, D.D., T. E. Martindale and the 
present pastor, Rev. R. H. Adams. The Sunday­
school connected with the congregation is one of the 
most thoroughly organized and be.~t disciplined in the 
State. Its superintendent, A. G. Cox, was chosen at 
the Conference, of 1834 as a lay delegate to that great 
law-making body, the General Conference of the 

Methodist Episcopal Church. The benevolent con­
tributions are large and annually increasi.ng, ranking 
with the most prosperous churches oft.he Wilmington 
Conference. The Wilmington Conference held its 
annual session here in 1881, and wa~ presided over by 
Bishop J. T. Hurst, D.D., LL.D. The entertainment 
furnished the ministry was of the most generous and 
cordial character. Among the ministers who have 
served this congregation are James Cunningham, 
Edwin L. Jane:,, Benj. F. Price, Thomas B. Tibbles, 
Ignatius T. Cooper, John B. Hagany, James Cunning­
ham, John He~ry, James R. Anderson, Joseph 
Aspr.il, Robert H. Patter,on, John B. Maddux, James 
B. Merritt, George Heacock, Thomas vV. Himpers, 
Alfred T. Scott, William H. Urie, Henry Culclazer, 
Vaughn Smith, Lucius C. Matlack, Thomas C. Mar­
tindale, W. L. S. Murray, Adam Stengle and R. H. 
Adams. 

ST. JOSEPH'S ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH.-Previ­
Ol18 to 1875 the Catholics of Middletown and Odessa 
formed a part of the Bohemia congregation, and were 
only visited on week-days by stations in private 
bou8eA. In that year Sunday services began to be held 
in private houses and later in the Town Hall. The 
inconvenience attending these meetings led to a 
desire to have a church property devoted exclusively 
to their use and service. A lot fifty by one hundred 
feet was purchased in 1883, of E. R. Cochran, and the 
corner-stone was laid N o,,ember 18th, with servic, s 
conducted by Rev. Father Murphy, of Washington. On 
October 15, 188!, the church was dedicated by Rt. 
Rev. Bishop B~cker. T4e church is a neat· frame 
structure, Gothic in style, sixty-two by thirty-two feet, 
with spire and bell, and has a seating capacity for 
three hundred persons. The cost was about three 
thousand five hundred dollars. Its erection was. due 
to the efforts of Rev. Father John D. Gaffney, S. J. 
Regular services are held ~hree times a month. The 
church is under the management of the Jesuit 
Fathers. At present there are about two hundred 
communicants. A Sunday-school of about twenty­
five scholars is connected with the church. The 
prie$ts now in charge are Rev. J. M. Giraud, pastor, 
Rev. J. B. Archambaud, assistant. 

INDUSTRIES.-The earliest industry in Middletown 
of which there is any reeord was the old Peterson 
tannery. In 1761 it was owned by David Wither­
spoon, who had purc.:hased it of the heirs of Adam 
Peterson. After the death of David Witherspoon it 
paesed into the hands of his nephew, Thomas Wither­
spoon, who operated it for some years. At a later 
period it became the property of Philip Reading, a 
son of the last missionary sent by the Society for the 
Propagation of the Go,pel in Foreign Parts, to St. 
Anne's Church. Philip Reading, Jr., married a Miss 
Peterson, and was the last one to operate the tannery. 
The old brick building, now used by "William Green 
for a barn, was the bark-ho.use of the tannery. 

There was also an old brewery in operation for a 
few years in the northeastern portion of the town 
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about 1825, but all traces of its owners and affairs 

have entirely disappeared 
·wm. L. Bucke & Co. opened a foundry and machine­

sho-p in March, 1856. Their first place of business 

wa~ on the location now occupied by the residences 

of M. D. Wilson and E. B. Rice. In 1875 the build­

ing now occupied by them was erected. It is a one­

story brick structure, forty by .e.ighty feet. They 

moved into it January 1, 1876, and have since con­

ducted business there. 
Garrett Cox began the manufacture of wagons and 

carriag'es in Middletown about fifty years ago. Shortly 

afterwards he assriciated with himself hi~ son, James 

M., and conducted business as Cox & Son. In 1857 

the firm of J. M. Cox & Bro. was established and 

have since operated the carriage factory. On May 2, 

1882, their works were destroyed by fire, and in a short 

time the present building was erected. 
In 1882 W. P. Biggs, Henry Clayton, Charles S. El­

lison and Joshua Clayton formed a co-partnership 

for the purpose of canning fruitR and vegetables, under 

the name of Biggs, Clayton & Co. The necessary 

buiklings were erected on the corner of Scott and 

Lake Streets, where the business was conducted for 

two seasons, of four months each, and then abandoned. 

Employment was given to about one hundred and 

twenty persons. The buildings have been unoccupied 

since 1884. 
The Delmarvia Manufacturing Company was in­

corporated March 18, 18i3, with a capital stock of 

twenty thousand dollars. Two acres of land were 

purchased on the corner of Cochran and Reading 

Streets, ar.d the buildings were completed in August, 

fitted up with four evaporators, and had a capacity of 

eight hundred bai;kets of peaches, forty-eight thou­

sand ears of corn and three thousand five hundred 

buckets of berries per day. The first officers were: 

President, C. C. Sellers; Vfre-'President, James C. 

Jackson; Secretary, James P. Meade; Treasurer, H. 

N. Willits; Superintendent, J. William Cox; Direc­

tors, R. A. Cochran, Jos. Roberts, E. C. Fenimore 

and John Cochran. 
On September 3, 1887, Mr. Sellers resigned as 

-president and R. A. Cochran was elected. On Janu­

ary 10, 1874, Jos. Rogers succeeded H. N. WjJJjts as 

treasurer, and ou July 5th Mr. Roberts was also 

elected secretary to succeed James P. Meade. The 

factory was operated by the company until November 

5, 1876, when it was discontinued. In March, 1877, 

the property was sold by the sheriff and purchn.~ed 

by R. A. Cochran. It burned down SeptP.mber 81 1887, 

and at that time was operaied by Williams & Murvel, 

of Wilmington. 
About the year 1570, John Cochran crossed over 

from Paisley, in Scotland, to the North of Ireland. 

He was a clansman of the powerful house of Dun­

donald, and of kin with its noble head. For several 

generations bid descendants were born, tilled the land, 

mnnjed and died in the home of their ndop~ion. 

Many were of the gentry, most were yeomeu, but all 

led sober, upright, righteous lives, feared God and 

kept His commandments. The family names were 

carefully perpetuated. James, the son of John, was 

succeeded by John, who, in turn, was father of another 

James. Then came Robert, called" honest,'' to dis­

tinguish him from other8 of the same name. His 

sons were Jame~, Stephen and David, and these latter 

crossed the sea and settled in Pennsylvania, where 

unmolested they might continue to worship in the 

faith of their fathers. · 

James married his kinswoman,Isabella,the daughter 

of "deaf" Robert. Their children were Ann; Robert, 

James, John, Stephen, Jane and Gerirge. Ann mar­

ried the Rev. John Roan, or Rohan, as it was indiffer­

ently spelled; Jane became the wife of Rev. Alex­

ander Mitchell; Robert died, leaving. a daughter 

Isabella; James died in April, 1768, preceded in his 

departure out of this world by his father, James, who 

died in the autumn 01' 17.36. 
This is the race of the Coch rans from the period 

when they quitted thetr home in Scotland to the time 

when their bones were first laid ir. the New World. 

James, Stephen and David settled in Chester County, 

Penosylvnnia, and laid out their farm8 neur the rip­

pling currents of Octorara. As appears from the 

records, James first resided in Sadsbury, in the same 

county and State. In 1742 he purchase4 one hundred 

and thirty-five acres additional in the same township, 

but it was not until the year 1745 that a large tract in 

Fallowfield, owned in common by the three brothers, 

was divided, and a patent issued by .John, Thomas 

and Richard Penn to James, for three contiguous lots, 

aggregating four hundred and thirty acre8. 

This tract lay to the south of Stephen's and David's 

shares. Through the northern portion, and near to 

the northwestern boundary, dividing it from the land 

of S'tephen, ran the New CastlP, road, to-day called the 

Gap and Newport turnpike. There thP, little village 

of Cochranville,by fts name perpetuates the traditions 

of the clan, whose pibroch and whose slogan have 

long ceased to sound on Scottish hills. These facts 

may be found in an article contributed by Walter L. 

C. Biddle to the Pennsylvania JJJagazine of History 

and Biography, Vol. III., No. 3, 1879, pp. 241, 242, 

and also in Judge J. Smith Futhey's "History of 

Chesler County." One of the scions of the original 

Couhran stc,ck settled in New Castle County,Delaware, 

near Summit Bridge, and had a son James, who also 

lived there and had the following children, viz.: Wil­

liam, who still survives, (February, 1888); Francis, 

Robert A., and James. 
Robert A, Cochran, the subject of this sketch, was 

born Nov.11, 1805, on what is known as the Levels, 

about three miles southwest of Middletown, New 

Castle County, Delaware, on the farm now owned and 

occupied by Joseph Roberts. Soon after his birth 

his fo ther, James Cochran, who was born near Summit 

Bridge, New Castle County, bought nod removed to a 

farm on Bohemia Mnno1·, Cecil County, Maryland, 

near what is now Murphy's Mill, about fl ve mile~ 
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from .Middletown. Up to about the time he was 
sixteen years of ngo, he woi,ketl bn.rd oa tb.e farm for 
nine months in the year, nnd duritlg n part of the 
wi11ter months heatteuded a poor ptililic school iu 
Mitldletowo, m:iny times walking tho five miles each 
way morni1ig 11,11d nigllt. . 

. When about ixteen years oid he went to Turner's 
Creek, in Krnt County, Md., to clerk in a store, 
where he stuyed about two years. He then went on 
hoi-seback to Alabama with an uncle, who w.n.s a 
Ja.rge cotton-plaater, to superintend for him a por­
tion of his business. Being very frugal, he had 
saved a little .money during tbis time, and when 
about twenty years of age he paid bis own way 
for lujtion at a seminary for about a ye:tr, shortly 
after which be enli,;ted ' in Gcum1.I Scott's urmy to 
fight the Indians fo Fluricln, in wha~ is known as the 
SeJni nole War. He stayed until the wal' was over, and 
thrilling indeed it wu.s to hear hi1J1 relate ihe many 
hnir-brenath escapes lie made from the savng~ a.ad 
from the drcadfu\Jever that prevailed in the swnmps 
of thnt wild region n.round Tampn. Bay o.nd the Ever­
gln<le.~. After 'the war lie spent several yeua more 
in different pitrt of the South chiefly in sA.lnbamii. 
and Georgia, during which time he rnaongeu to save 
a few &housl,\ud dollars. Meanwhile be made severn1 
trips to his olj:1 home in Marylaod on horsebr.ck, and 
fin:;i.lly concluded to ll}n.vc tho South and settle JJCr­
mnnently near bis old J1ouie. On his way bnck be 
stopped to rest at Joppn. Cross-Roads, in Harford 
County, Md., whicll lics immediately on the turnpike 
tben known llB the .Philadelphia and Ba.l~imore turn­
pike and stage-route, and where now stands a station 
on the riew Baltimore and Philadelphia R11ilrcmd 1 
called J oppa. Sojourning with his friends and rela­
tives, John Rouse and family, he there and then first 
met the bright nnd beautiful girl, Miiry L. Rou-e, 
then sevenLeen year~ of 11ge, ,vhom he afterwards 
married, in little over a year. Sarah Rouse, the 
motlier of M iu·y L., whose maiden-name was Sarah 
Cochran, had removed from Delaware to Harford 
County some years before, and was a relative of 
Robert A. Cochran, and closely connected with the 
numerous Cochran family of Baltimore City and 
Harford County, Mel. 

The mnrri11ge took place at Joppa September 21, 
1837. Tl1e bride and groom went vel'y soon there­
after to Midoletown, Del. , nod spent the following 
winter wi~b ex-Go\•ern r John P. u.nd H,, T. Cochran. 
In the spring following they took board at the Micl­
tlleLowu Hole! and Mr. Cochron eng,tgE)d in the luru­
ber IJusiness. 111 about a year afterwards he l,ought 
the hotel .and llbout se\feoty acres of lnn<l, lying con­
tiguous thereto, on which a good part of the town 
now stands. 

In 1844 he bnu~ht, on the leve]- near Middletown, 
a farm, lying adj ,1cent to the one on which he was 
born, which he proceeded to improve in a vigo1·ous 
manner. In 1849 he built a large brick house 1.md 
commodious out,buildiugs upon it, aud removed 

thereto in the summer of 1850, and by bis untiring 
indU!.try ancl good manage.men~ inn few years convert­
ed it from n barren couimoo to a ricb and fertile farm. 

In 1861 Mr. Cochran was elected on the Democratic 
ticket.to the· State Legislature, nnd served through 
the regular term. He also sen•ed in the extra session 
of 1862. Before the war he had acted with the old 
Whig po.rtr. 

In 1806 he left the farm and removed to Middle­
town ag11in, nnd devoted him elf to building up the 
town n.nd Lbe numng.ement of bis seven rarms, n.11 of 
whi4.;b he hnd, by bis1 industry, economy nnd good 
management, suoceede,d in buying and pnying for in 
a fe1v yeimi entirely by hi$ owo exertion and unaided 
by any one to the extent of .five hundred dollars. He 
had often been beard to say that when he ~tarted 
South he bad just ten cents in l1is pocket, and he 
never recei\·ed a cent from his father's small estate. 

There never lived a more industrious and econom­
ical nod honest mnn than Robert A. Cochran. Many 
people say that the town of Middletown would ucver 
have been what it is to-day had it not been for him, 
and the many buildings he erected there stand as 
mounrnenls to commemorate his enterprise, quite as 
significant as the granite shaft that ma rks his tomb 
in the Forest Hill Pte.sbyteriM Church Cemetery. 

He died November 2, 1882, being witllin nine days 
of seventy-seven years of age. l:Lis \\sire hat! <Hed Janu­
ary 24, 1877. He left an estate valued at two hun­
dred Lhousand dollars. The children born to Robert 
A. and M.nry L. Cochran were as followij: Edwin R., 
now clerk of the pMce for New OasLle County nnd 
married ~o A.da C., daughter of Ohnrles BeasLen, of 
Odessn,. Del. (hfo home is near Middletown, ia a cow­
modiol.ls d1velliug, bui lt by hio1 fat.her in 1800 ; he has 
three cbildren-EdwiQ R., Jr., 'Blanche n. a.1)d .Ada. 
L. Oochmn); two .sons hore the narne of William H. 
Cochrnn (t.he first was born June, J'6, 11-40, the second 
August, 20, 1841; both ii.re now dead); J runes .F., boru 
.August 22, 1843 i S11rah 0., boru 11i11y 17, 1845; R. 
Alvfo, bur1 Februn.ry 24, 184~; Christopher C., l,orn 
April 27, 1851; Mary L., lwrn April 17, 1853; Flor­
ence E., born March 30, l Iii; nnd Ar111111da ., born 
April 16, 18.35, a.re all cleceased, and, with the excep­
tiun of R. AJ\•ln, died. before their faLher. Frnn ·vs 
E., born MtLy JO, 1 47, is the wife of William A.. 
ComE'gy , a rehttive of Ohiet' Jus~ice Comegys. He 
i rle1iuty uollector of Iutern11l Revenue, and resides 
at Miudl~Lown. Joseph.ine R. born November 80, 
18ti7, is the ~vife of Mr. F.i·ank Ooorny, of Obe1;u­
pm1k.e City. 

Mr. Cochran was no adherent and on.eof ~he found­
ers, and from its fou11<l11biou until his ueutb one of 
the tru;,tees of the Fore;;t Presbyteria.11 Ohnrch at 
Middletown. 

Two children have been born to Mrs. Wm. A. 
<'.k-mei;ys, Yiz.: RoberL A. and Joseph P. Robert A. 
Co ht·an (now deceased) left three childl'en, viz.: 
E1•elyn, Bertie and Louise. Mr.;,. J. R. Oonrey has 
one son, Frank. 
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In 1874 J.B. Fenimore built a new machine works 
near the Delmarvia fruit factory. This was occupied 
for about three years by D. Woodall & Co. as a 
foundry and machine-shop. In- 1677 it was fitled ltp 

by Wm. R. Rothwell & Co.; for a basket factory, but 
never operated. It was next used for o·ne season 
by Parvis & Biggs as a phosphate manufactory. In 
1886 H. L. Arthur leased the property and fitted it 
up with machinery for canning tomatoes and peaches. 
During th Ci season of two rnonlhs per ye~1r ho· give 
employment to KP:venry perso ns. He cans tomatoes 
principally and hns 11. cn.pnciLy for fi.fteeu thousand 
cn,;es per seaso n. Hispriacipnl shipments:uel.oNew 
York and Toledo. 

In 1887 J. B. Maxwell erected a canning factory, 
the main building of which is two stories high and 
forty-eight by sixty-four feet. In the rear of this is a 
one-story building, thirty by eighty-eight feet. The 
establishment will be used during the canning season 
for putting up the "Lion " brand of tomatoes, and for 
about six months more of the year for manufacturing 
mince-meat and will give employment to fifty persons. 
The capacity for this year is one htmdred and fifty 
thousand cans, which will be shipped principally to 
Philadelphia. 

In 1885 G. W. Stephens opened a brick-yard within 
the limits of Middletown. Employment is given to 
ten men for seven months each year. Five grades 
are manufactured which aggregate six hundred thou­
sand bricks per year. The majority of these are used 
in the vicinity. 

BANKING INsTITUTIONS.-On February 25, 1859, 
the "Citizens' Dank of the State of Delaware,'' at 
Middletown, was chartered. The capital stock was 
fifty thousand dollars, which was divided into one 
thousand shares at fifty dollars each. The bank was 
opened for businei;.'\ January 23, 1860, in a building 
on the corner of Broad and Main Streels, where G. \V. 
W. Naudain's store now stands. The officers at that 
time were,-Presiclent, George Derrickson; Cashier, 
James McDowell; Teller, John Z. Crouch; Direc­
tors, John Eliason, Benjamin Gibbs, Richard Lock­
wood, Thomas Murphy, Richard Seamans, Albert 
Penington, William C. Eliason, Robert A. Cochran. 

In 1861 John Z. Crouch resigned the position of 
teller and John R. Hall wa, chosen his successor. At 
the decease of Cashier James McDowell in 1862, John 
R. Hall was elected to succeed him, and Joseph 
L. Gibson was chosen teller. In 1865 it was decided 
to convert the bank into a national bank, and increase· 
the capital stock to eighty thousand dollars. It was 
officered then as follows : President, George Derrick­
son ; Cashier, John R. Hall; Teller, Joseph L. Gib­
son; Directors, Thomas Murphy, Richard Seamans, 
Benjamin Gibbs, Wm. C. Eliason, C. B. Ellison, Jas. 
M. Cox, Dr. J. V. C~awford, James Garman. 

In 1867 Joseph L. Gibson resigned his position and 
accepted the cashiership of the New Castle County 
Bank, at Odessa. J. B. Clarkson was elected his suc-
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cessor and was teller till 1874, when he resigned and 
John S. Crouch was chosen. 

In 1868 Wm. C. Eliason was succeeded as director 
by Jesse Lnke, who, with Richard Seam:u1s, wns suc­
ceeded in t)le following ye111' by William Groen and 
William B. Thomas. Henry Clayton was elected in 
1870 as the successor to Wm. B. Thomas. During 
this year a lot on Broad Street was purchased of 
Robert A. Cochran by the bank. In the fall the 
erection of a commodious brick building was begun. 
It was completed the following year at a cost of 
twelve thousand seven hundred dollars. 

Since that time the builcling has been used for 
banking purposes. In January, 1871, George Derrick­
son resigned his position as president, and Dr. J. V. 
Crawford was elected his successor. He filled the 
position until 1874, when he resigned and Henry Clay­
ton, the present president, was chosen. The officers 
in this year were: President, Henry Clayton; Cash­
ier, John R. Hall; Teller, John S. Crouch; Directors, 
Benjamin Gibbs, Benjamin T. Biggs, John A. Rey­
nolds, James Culbertson, Jacob B. Cazier, Edward C. 
Fenimore, Martin E. Walker and Joseph Biggs. There 
was no change in the board until 1882, when Andrew 
Woodall was elected to fill the vacancy caused by the 
death of Benjamin Gibbs. In the following year the 
decease of Martin E. Walker caused a vacaucy 
which was filled by the election of Colonel Joshua 
Clayton. 

In June, 1884, John S. Crouch was elected to suc­
ceed John R. Hall a8 cashier, and Leonidas Darling­
ton was chosen teller. On May 11, 1885, the corporate 
existence of the bank was extended for a period of 
twenty years. The bank is well managed and at the 
present time has a surplus of sixteen thousand dollars. 
The officers ure: President, Henry Clayton; Cashier, 
John S. Crouch; Teller, Leonidas Darlington; As­
sistant Teller, R. T. Clayton; DirectorR, John A. Rey­
nolds, B. T. Biggs, J. B. Cazier, Andrew Woodall, 
James Culbertson, Thomas Cavender, Joseph Biggs 
and Joshua Clayton, of Thomas. 

The People's Nutional Bank of Middle/own was au­
thorized to begin the buBiness of banking on July 31, 
1883. The first meeling was held May 1, 1883, and 
Dr. J. V. Crawford, Andrew Eliason, ,vmiam Green, 
Samuel Mallalieu and G. W.W. Naudain reported 
the following persons for the Managing Committee: 
'l'. C. Cruikshank, William K. Lockwood, Andrew 
Eliason, John Diehl, Samuel Mallalieu, B. F. H. 
Caulk, Dr. J. V. Crawford, II. H. Appl~ton, J. A. 
Pool, James M. Vandegrift, \Villiam Green,- Charles 
Derrickson, G. E. Hukil], W. R Cochran, Thomas 
Cavender, G. vV. Vv. Nandain, E. R. Cochrnn and 
James R. Hoffecker. The disposition of the stock 
was left to this committee; with instructions to sell to 
no person more th:m thirty , shares. On May 29th 
they reported the ~tock all taken, and notice was sent 
to each subscriber to pay in ten per cent. of the 
amount subscribed. On June 2d a meeting of the 
stockholders was called and an organization effected. 
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It was decided to elect nine directors from Delaware 
and three from Maryland, The following received 
the highest number of votes and were declared elec­
ted: Dr. J. V. Crawford, G. W. W. Naudain, Wil­
liam Cochran, Z. A. Pool, G. E. Hukill, T. C. Cruik­
shank, Andrew Eliason, Wirnam Green, George L. 
Townsend, H. A. Nowland, Samuel Mallalieu and I. 
G. Griffith. 

At a meeting of the directors held ·June 9th, Dr. J, 
V. Crawford was chosen president; William R. Coch­
ran, vice-president; and G. W. W.Naudain, secretary. 
Mr. Naudain resigned his position as secretary, on 
June 30th, and George L. Townsend was elected his 
successor. On the same day the corporation rented 
from Colonel Joshua Clayton a room on the corner of 
Broad and Main Streets,'and proceeded to fit it up 
for a banking-room. George D. Kelley was elected 
cashier on the 21st day of July and bas served in 
that capacity to the present time. On July 28th 
William A. Comegys was elected teller, which position 
he held until November 29, 1884, when he resigned 
and Sewell Green, the present teller, was chosen. 
The bank was opened for business on August 15, 
1883. In January, 1884, Messrs. Hukill, Naudain and 
Eliason were appointed a co!llmittee to select a suit­
able bank property, and on February 16th they were 
instructed to purchase a house of L. P. McDowell 
and an adjoining lot of Miss M.A. C. Roberts, both 
on Main Street. The house was remodeled and fitted 
up as a residence for the cashier. On June 21, 1884, 
the contract for the erecti0n of the present bank 
building was awarded to C. N. Dodd. The new build­
ing was completed and opened in December, 1884. 
On November 3, 1883, William Green resigned his 
position as director and George W. Polk was elected. 
In January, 1885, B. F. H. Caulk was elected the 
successor of Samuel Mallalieu. On April 3, 1886, I. 
G. Griffith resigned and G. :F. Brady was elected. On 
May 7, 1887, George M. D. Hart was elected to fill 
the vacancy caused by the resignation of George W. 
Polk. The capital stock is eighty thou~and dollars 
and is divided into eight hundred shares of one hun­
dred dollars each. The surplus is two thousand three 
hundred and fifty dollars. The present officers are: 
President, J. V. Crawford, M.D.; Cashier, George D. 
Kelley; Teller, Sewell Green ; Directors, G. W. W. 
Naudain, William Cochran, Z. A. Pool,G. E. Hukill, 
Andrew Eliason, George M. D. Hart, George L. 
Townsend, H. A. Nowland, B. F. H. Caulk;- T. C. 
Cruik1:1hank and G. F. Brady. 

James V. Crawford, M.JJ., tbe president of the 
People's National Bank, was born in Baltimore in 
1824, in which city he was educated, and where he 
lived until 1846, when he became a resident of Dela­
ware. 

He traces bis ancestry back to James Crawford, a 
Scotch, or Scotch-Irish gentleman of some means and 
good position, who came with Sir Robert Carr, as a 
volunteer on the military expedition sent by the 
British government, in 1GG4, to drive o.ut the Dutch, 

who had taken possession of the Delaware colony 
This expedition was organized in the vicinity of 
Windsor, England, and was composed, as military 
expeditions generally were at that time, of younger 
sons of good families, eager for any stirring adventure 
in western wilds. As Windsor at that time was the 
country residence of the Stuart Kings, who were 
Scotch, many of their countrymen would naturally 
resort to that place as applicants for place or favors. 
This accounts for some of the Scotch names in the 
regiment. Though there was difference in military 
rank among them, there appears to have been little or 
none in their social position, 

After the successful result of this expedition, James 
Crawford concluded to cast his lot with the _hardy 
pioneers of the English colony, and remained at or 
near the N e_w Castle settlement. Several tracts of 
land and a house at New Castle were bestowed upon 
him, as the records say, in 1667, for meritoriou:1 mili­
tary service. He afterwards, in 1675 and in 1682, ob­
tained by two separate deeds eight hundred acres of 
land from the English Governor Nichols, and from 
Edmund A.ndross, Deputy Governor of the New York 
province, before the Delaware settlement was sold to 
William Penn. These tracts were improved and left 
to his heirs at his death in 1683. His widow, Judith 
Crawford, married Edward Gibbs, by whom she bad 
two children, Edward and Benjamin. John Crawford, 
a son of the pioneer James Crawford, became an 
Episcopal clergyman, and went to England. \}eorge, 
a great-grandson, went South about 1747, and Elea­
nora, a sister of George, married a Porter, the ancestor 
of the former Commodore Porter of the United States 
navy. Most of the descendants of James Crawford 
have resided as landed proprietors in what ii' now the 
county of New Castle. Among the living male de­
scendants are Theodore F. Crawford, of Wilmington, 
and the Rev. John Crawford, formerly of Wilming­
ton. 

The particular care given to education and the 
advancement of family interests, which distinguishes 
the Scotch-Irish people, has been characteristic of the 
Crawfords. Hence they have been found more atten­
tive to the interests and duties of private life than 
solicitous of public honors. Many of them lie buried 
in the cemetery attached to Drawyer's Church, near 
Odessa, and their names are prominent in the annals 
of that old church. The grandfather of Dr. Crawford, 
whose name was also James, lost the bulk of a good 
hereditary estate by becoming surety for friends, and 
left his property in a tangled and critical condition, 
which was afterward~ recovered by b.is grandson. 
His son Jacob, the father of Dr. Crawford, was of a 
delicate constitution, and died at the early age of thir­
ty-eight. He had gone to Baltimore to engage in 
mercantile affairs, and there married a Miss Duchemin, 
of that city, a member of the Catholic Church, and 
who also died at an early age. On the maternal side 
Dr. Crawford i,; connected with Lwo notable historical 
events. One wa~ the sin.Ye insurrection of St. Do-
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miogo, in 1793 , on account of which his lnD.ternaj 
grandfather, Francis A. Duchemin, was obliged to 
flee from that il!l ,md. This he was barely successful 
in accomplishing, by the aid of two faithful slaves, 
who reftlsed to leave him, and went with him to .Bal• 
timore. Francis A. Duchemin had emigrated from 
France to St. Domingo. He was a man of unusual 
ability, and h11,d built up an extensive shipping busi· 
ness and a large fortune, the former of which was, of 
course, destroyed l>y the insurrecti on. Of his for~une, 
thougli bis losses were heavy, he was fo:rtunate euough 
to save a ba,ndsome competence, foim remittances 
from consignees in foreign ports, for valuable cargoes 
previously shipped. 

The expulsion of the French settlers from Acadia_, 
or Nova Scotia, is the second event above alluded to, 
which was carried out .by the British forces with great 
cruelty, o.ud who scattered those once happy people 
to so m110y difrerent quarters of the world. The story 
is told by Longfellow wi th great effect, in the poem 
of'" Evangeline." The exile from St. Domingo, Mr. 
Duchemin, 11utrrled in Baltimore the duttghter of" 
one of those Acadian exiles, and from this union the 
mother of Dr. Crawford was one of the off:;pring. 
Mr. Duchemin was one of the volunteer defenders of 
Baltimore during the last war with Great Britain, 
when his adopted city was in danger. 

Dr. Crawford was educated at St. Mary's College, 
in Baltimore, and having chosen the profe.q~ion of 
medicine, graduated from the University of Maryland 
in 1845. Before proceeding to practice medicine in 
tl1e city, he felt bound to devote .himself to a diligent 
effort to recover the estate in Del1tware that bad be· 
longed to his grandfather Crawford, n.l>ove alluded to. 
After several year,; of wearisome delays, disappolnt• 
ments, risks and much expense, hi~ efforts were sue• 
ces:;ful. He wns als.o fortunate in selliug, just before 
the Civil War (at an advnnce), a trad of land which 
he had bought in Virgi_nia. 

Th.us placed in advantageous circumstances, and 
finding the practice of medicine in the counky too 
lnbo.tious for bis health, which was of h~reditary 
delicacy, he concluded to devote himself to agricul• 
tural pursuit.~ and the· improvement of his land. 
This occu.pntion was not e_ntirely congenial to bi.m, 
yet circumst..'l.nCes seemed to bind him to its continu• 
nnce for many yenra, and be hns been successful in 
its prosecution . 'But .bis mai.n predilection iii for 
science 1tnd li ternture, which he 11,M always cultivated 
with unfailing pleasure. 

In 1864 he was chosen director in the Citizens' 
National Bank of Middletown; and was afterwards 
elected president of the bnnk, serving three years in 
the latter capacity until he·resigned this position in 
1874. 

Iu religion Dr. Crawford belongs to the Catholic 
Church. In poliLice, though raised a Whig, he has 
for many years acted with the Democratic party. 
During the late war Lie followed the lend of Mr. Doug­
las, lllld was a strenuous sUpl)O.t:ter of the War for the 

Union. He was also in accord with the administra· 
tion of Andrew Johnson in the efforts made by him 
to re-establish frie.ndly relations between North and 
South. Dr. Crawford attended the National Union 
Convention of 1866, as one of the delegates from Del­
aware. In 1880 he accepted the Democratic nomina• 
tion for the State Legislature, but the entire county · 
ticket was defeated. In 1882 he again received the 
nomination of his party for tbe same position, and 
was elected. His cour,e in the LegislaLUre g<ive sat· 
isfactiou to his constituents, and as "Chairman of the 
Judiciary Committee" of the House of, Representa­
tives he obtained the approval of both parties. Upon 
the establishment of the People's National Bank of 
Middletown, he was chosen president of the bank at 
the first election, which was held in January, 1884, 
and he still at this date, December 29, 1887, holds the 
same position. He finds pleasure in the fact that 
though the new bank has encountered opposition, yet 
it has enjoyed continued prosperity, and its stock now 
sells at a premium. 

Dr. Crawford is unmarried, but has the company 
of two sisters who share the comforts of his household. 
In person Dr. Crawford is spare and not above 
medium height. His features and manner indicate 
that he has tlie courage of his convictions, and that 
he would perse,,ere resolutely in whatever course he 
believed to be right. 

SOCIETIES.- Union Lodge, No. 5, A. F. A. M., was 
instituted at Odessa in 17G5, and is the oldest lodge 
of Masons in the State. The original charter was 
grant!jd by the Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania, there 
being no Grand Lodge in Delaware previous to 1806. 
On January 24, 1816, the lodge was reorganized and 
chartered by the Grand Lodge of this State under 
the s·ame name and number un'der which it was or­
iginally organized. 

The names of the first officers under the new or· 
ganization were,-W. M., Leonard Vandegrift; S. 
W., Thomas Belville; J. W., William Streets; Treas., 
Arnold S. Naudain; Sec., John Moody; S. D., Jon­
athan Allston; J. D., John Stuart; Tyler, Joshua 
Bowen. 

The place of meeting was afterwards changed to 
Middletown, where the lodge now meets in the town 
ball on tbe first Tuesday night of every month. 

The present membership is forty-nine, and the 
officers are,-W. M., J.B. Roberts; S. W., Dr. R. B. 
McKee; J. W., John W. Jolls; Treas., J. L. Gibson; 
Sec., W. H. Johnson;_ S. D., T. W, Bucke; J. D., J. 
B. Deakyne. 

Irving Lyceum was a literary association formed 
in Middletown during February, 1881. Rev. W. C. 
Alexander was its first president, and was ably 
sustained by the leading citizens of the place. Its 
membership at one time was over a hundred. And 
several public entertainments were given by the 
members in the course of its existence. It had a 
good hall, well equipped, with a library and a piano; 
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but after a little over four years of good and efficient 
work, it disbanded. 

The 1'fut1,al Loan Association of Mi<ldletown, Del., 
was oriranized February 15, 1873. The first officers 
were,-Pres., James H. Scowdrick; Vice-Pres., H. 
A. Nowland; Sec., A. G. Cox; Treas., J. B. Clark­
son: Directors, J. M. Cox, J. H. Gilpin, T. W. Bucke, 
John B. Roberts, G. E. Hukill, James R. Hoffecker, 
,John Morrison, E. B. Rice, R.H. Eliason. 

Series of stock are issued yearly, and continue till 
each share is worth $200. }fifteen series have been 
issued, of which five have matured. In March, 1878, 
G. E. Hukill sncceeded James H. Scowdrick as pres­
ident. Hukill was succeeded in 1883 by H. A. Now­
land, the present incumbent. In 1883 G. E. Hukill 
1rncceeded H. A. Nowland as vice-president. In 
March, 1876, A.G. Cox succeeded J.B. Clarkson as 
treasurer. The receipts for the year ending February 
15, 1887, were $31,797.31. The cash in the treasury 
at that time was $1785.44. 

The officers at the present time are,-Pres., H . .A. 
Nowland; Vice-Pres., G. E. Hukill; Sec. and Treas., 
.A. G. Cox; Directors, Joseph Gary, W. H. Moore, 
Joseph Hanson, Dr. T. H. Gilpin, J.B. Foard, John 
W. Jolls, James M. Cox, D. L. Dunning. 

The Peninsular Agricultural and Pomological Asso­
ciation was organized at Middletown, January 3J., 
1874. .At this meeting the fii:st officers of the a~so­
ciation were elected and were as follows: President, 
Charles Beasten; Treasurer, Edward Reynolds; Sec­
retary, J. Thomas Budd. 

A tract of land near the town limits was leased of · 
William Brady and buildings erected and a race-track 
constructed. For the first few years the fairs were a 
success both financially and as to the quantity and 
quality of the exhibits. Gradually they became un­
popular, and in 1883 it was decided to abandon them. 
In the following February the buildings and privi­
leges of the association were exposed to public sale, 
and sold on the 21st of that month, In Angust, 1875, 
Charles Beasten was succeeded by Wm. R. Cochran, 
who continued to serve as president until its abandon­
ment. J. Thos. Budd was succeeded in 1876 by J. 
B. Clarkson, whom J.B. Naudain succeeded the same 
year. In 1880 W. S. Way was elected to succeed 
Naudain. Way was secretary and Edward Reynolds 
treasurer until the dissolution of the association. 

MIDDLETOWN TOWN HALL.-The Middletown 
Town Hall Company was incorporated february 25, 
1867. On March 2d a meeting was called for the 
purpose of selecting a committee to open the books 
and secure subscriptions for the stock. W. H. Barr, 
James M. Cox, J.B. Fenimore, H. N. Willit~ and J. 
Thomas Budd were appointed as the committee. On 
March 16, 1868, a meeting of the subscribers was 
called and seven directors were elected to serve for 
one year." They were James M. Cox, Robert A. 
Cochran, Samuel Penington, W. H. Barr, J . Thomas 
Budd, John R. Hall and Thomas Massey. A meet­
ing of the dirctors was immediately called, when 

James M. Cox was chosen president; J. T. Budd, sec­
retary; and Johu R. Hall, treasurer. .A lot of land 
on Main Street was purchased of Samuel Penington 
and the erection of a building was commenced in 
June. The corner-stone was laid July 27, 1868, with 
appropriate services conducted by the Union Lodge, 
No. 5, A. F. A. M. The oration was delivered by J. 
C. McCabe, D.D. The building was completed in 
January of the following year and is a three-story 
brick structure, sixty-eight by seventy feet, and cost 
thirty-six thousand dollars. The first floor is divided 
into three store-rooms. The second story is the audi­
torium and on the third floor are three lodge-rooms. 
The store-rooms and two of the lodge rooms are occu­
pied. The auditorium affords a ~uitable place for 
entertainments and public assembliel'l. The present 
officers are: President, James M. ·cox; Treasurer, J. 
B. Deakyne; Secretary, Samuel Penington; Directors, 
Wm. H. Moore, James Culbertson, D. L. Dunning, 
W. W. Wilson. 

W ATER-W ORKS.-Fires at various times called the 
attention of the citizens of Middletown to the ne­
cessity of a protection of some kind. On June 3, 
1871, a committee on water was instructed by the com­
missioners to dig a well, build a tower with a tank on 
it and fit it up with a pump and wind-mill. The 
tank was not to hold less than seven thousand gal­
lons. The well was dug, but the supply of water was 
found insufficient to supply the demands and the un­
dertaking was abandoned. In March, 1884, the ques_ 
tion of drive wells was agitated, but without success. 
On February 10, 1887, an act was passed by the 
Legislature empowering the town commissioners to 
borrow fifteen thousand dollars to be expended in 
securiug a water supply. Henry Clayton, G. W. W. 
Naudain, Martin B. Burris, John H. Parvis and 
Gideon E. Hukill were appointed to superintend the 
construction of the works, and when completed to 
surrender the management to the town commission­
ers. G. E. Hukill resigned and Nathaniel Williams 
was appointed in his stead. The commissioners de­
cided to sink twenty drive wells at intervals of fifty 
feet and to erect a standpipe one hundred feet high 
and eight feet in diameter, with a capacity of thirty­
seven thousand gallons. All the pumps connect with 
a main pipe, which flows into the stan.dpipe. The 
apparatus is to be so arranged that in case of fire the 
main pipe can be disconnected from the standpipe 
and the water pumped direct from the wells. About 
two miles of pipe will be laid through the town, with 
fire-plugs at convenient places to cover the entire 
town. The work is being rapidly pushed to comple­
tion and will prove a decided advantnge to the town. 

HOTELS-The Middletown Hotel was built in 1761 
by David Witherspoon, and managed by him until bis 
death, which occurred two years later, when it was in­
herited by hi~ nephew, Thomas Witherspoon, who 
leased it to different parties. It afterwards vested in 
his son David, who was owner and proprietor for 
many years. While under his management, James 
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Knight, a noted character and duelist, was killed in 
the bar-room by him. Knight came in drunk and 
being refu~ecl liquor by Witherspoon, pulled bi~ pistol 
and made several attempts to kill him. The weapon 
missed fire both times and then, to save himself, 
Witherspoon reached above the bar and took down a 
horse-pistol, with which he shot Knight: Jes~e Hig­
gins, the next 0wner, by bis will bearing date June 
13, 1810, devised the tavern and four other tenements 
to his daughters, Susan and Maria. In 1835 the hotel 
was purchased by William. H. Crawford, who sold it 
March 25, 1844, to Robert A. Cochran. While in his 
possession the house was several times remodeled and 
was enlarged to its present size and capacity. After 
his decease, in 1882, the hotel property became vested 
in his daughter, Mrs. W. A. Comegys. Since its erec­
tion the hotel has had many proprietors, and is now 
ably managed by Messrs. Armstrong & Sparks, who 
took posses,ion on September 1, 1884. 

The National Hotel was built in 1862 by a joint 
stock company, and by them. leased till 1878. John 
C. Lippincott was the firi:,t proprietor. In 1878, 
Alexander Maxwell, the present proprietor, purchased 
the property and has since successfully managed it. 

ODESSA.-The land on which Odessa is now located 
was taken up by Alexander De Hinijossa, who was 
Vice-Director at New Amstel (New IJastle), from 
1659 to 1663. Upon his retirement from Lhe position 
be obtained possession of a large tract of land, at 
Appoquinimin (Odessa), where he signified his inten­
tion to reside and engage in trading. He was settled 
at his plantation but a few months when a change in 
affairs gave the territory to the Britiijh, and his estate 
was confiscated and granted to Captain Edmund Cant­
well in about 1676. Captain Edmund Cantwell was 
the first sheriff of New Castle County under the gov­
ernment of William. Perm. He was also high sheriff 
under i:lir Edmund Aridrus in 1676. He died in 1698, 
and his estate passed to his son Richard. In 1731 
permission was granted to him to erect a toll-bridge 
over the Appoquinimink Creek. The place then be­
came known as Cantwell's Bridge, and was well 
known as a stopping-place for persons traveling from 
the Delaware to the Chesapeake. In 1765 a tract of 
land near the Appoquinim.ink was purchased by Wil­
liam Corbit, and a tan-yard opened. The house now 
occupied by Daniel W. Corbit, and the adjoining one, 
were built, respectively, in 1773 by William Corbit 
and in 1772 by David Wilson. The Corbit house was 
built by Robert May & Co., of England. In 1804 
Samuel Thomas and James Gibson were merchants 
in this town. In 1817, when Charles Tatman, lately 
deceased, came to this town, there were about thirty 
residences, all of which were situated on the south 
side of Main Street. Dr. John Smith was practicing 
medicine at that time. A Scotchman by the name of 
Osborne owned nearly all of the land extending 
northward from Main Street. He removed from the 
place and made no disposition of his property. The 
land escheated to the State, and, under an act passed 

February 2,1821, John Merritt, Outten Davis, Jacob 
Vandegrift, John Reynolds and John Clark were ap­
pointed commissioners to lay out the land into lots, 
with streets and lanes. The services of Jonas C. 
Fairlamb, surveyor, were secured, and the town was 
plotted. The plan of the town was accepted by John 
Lowber, escheator of New Castle County. Lowber, 
by the authority given him in the act, exposed the 
lots for sale at public auction, and four of them were 
purchased by Outten Davis. In 1829 lot No. 5 was 
owned by John Grim, lo~ No. 7 by Samuel Thomas, 
and on lot No. 6 there was a two-story brick dwell­
ing and store, occupied by William Thomas. 

In 1825 Cantwell's Bridge was a place of consider­
able importance. Charles Tatman and Manlove 
Hayes were merchants at that time. The hotel was 
conducted by Ford Mansfield. David Wilson and 
William Polk were dealing largely in grain. At this 
time Cantwell's Bridge was the principal grain mar­
ket for the s"ilrrounding country. Grain was conveyed 
here for shipment from all points within a radius of 
twelve or fifteen miles. Six large grana~ies, holding 
about thirty thousand bushels, standing on the bank 
of the Appoquinim_ink, were often completely filled, 
which delayed the purchase of grain until some of it 
was shipped to Philadelphia. From 1820 until 1840 
there were shipped from this town four hundred 
thousand bushels of grain annually. 

John Janvier, the undertaker, at this time owned 
a two-wheeled hearse, which was used whenever any 
one of wealth or high social standing was buried. 
On other occasions an ordinary wagon w·as used. The 
coffin was placed on the axle and held in position by 
wooden screws. This was used until 1840. J@hn As­
pri! was the blacksmith and wheelwright, and the 
tannery was manajl;ed by Daniel Corbit. 

As early as 1830 agricultural fairs were held at 
Cantwell's Bridge, and were largely attended by peo­
ple from Delaware, Pennsylvania and Maryland. 

The grain at a later time was handled p~focipally 
by Charles Tatman, John Grim, John Cullin, Crouch 
& Davis and Polk & Beasten, who were succeeded by 
Beasten & Watkins. During the busiest seasons, six 
sloops made weekly trips to Philadelphia, and three 
coasting schooi;iers went to Boston and the East, be­
sides a large number of transient vessels. 

In 1855 it was thought advisable to change the 
name of the village, and "Odessa" was adopted. It 
was named after Odessa, Russia, a large grain port on 
the Black Sea. The construction of the Delaware 
Railroad opened a new avenue for grain shipment 
and was a decided injury to the business interests of 
the village. The grain shipments were confined to 
the immediate vicinity, and decreased in a wonderful 
manner, and at present there is but one grain boat, 
owned by Columbus Watkins, plying between this 
town and Philadelphia. On July 23, 1856, there was 
a fire here which destroyed the cabinet-shop of Thos. 
Enos, a dwelling of M, Doughten, a dwelling and 
stable . of Misses Catharine .Arthur and Elizabeth 



Historic Marker Dedication Schedule 

Cochran Square -2:00 p.m. 

Schedule 

Introduction of Guests 

Reading of Proclamation 

Unveiling of Historic Marker 

Quest Speakers 

Music provided by Middletown High School Marching Band 

This proclamation will be placed in the window of the home of the 
Middletown Historical Society, 8 East Main Street. 

MIDDLETOWN msTORJCAL SOCIETY 

PRESENTS 

SECOND'ANNUAL HISTORIC HOUSE AND 
BUILDING TOUR 

Middletovm Hotel/WitheiSpoon Inn, c. 1908 _. 

OCTOBER 13, 2001 

10:00 AM to 4:00 PM 



HOUSES AND BUILDINGS 

1. Ticket sales are from 9:30 to 2:00 at the Middletown Historical Society 
· Museum, located at 8 East Main Street, begin your tour from this point. 

Shuttle bus will leave the senior center every 15 to 20 minutes to take 
visitors to Old St. Anne 's Church, and circle route of homes on tour. 

2. Bethesda Methodist Church, 116 E. Main Street.. . .............. .. 1823 

3. John Weinlein, 7 E. Main Street .... .. ... ... ......... ...... .. . ... ..... .. cl800 

4. James and Margaret Pryor, 201 N Broad Street ....... ... .... .. . cl 875 

5. Jeanie Stewart and Rob Machiorlettee, 208 N Broad Street .. cl 900 

6. Dani and Daniel Shade, 215 N Cass Street .. . ..................... cl 885 

7. Douglas and Barbara Roberts, 200 W Main Street ............. cl850 

8. Foard House 109 W Main Street . ... ...... ..... ........ .. .. ....... .. . 1877 
Steven Skarupa and Christina Casey 

9. Forest Presbyterian Church, 44 W Main Street .............. . .... 1850 

10. Town Barber Shop, 15 W Main Street ... .. .... ..................... cl 865 
"Antique barber shop equipment on display" 

11. Volunteer Hose Company Museum, Corner of S. Scott Street 
& Green Street, ............ ......... ............. .. ...... ... ...... ......... .. 2000 

"Volunteer Hose Company,founded in 1887" 

12. St. Joseph 's Catholic Church, Corner of S. Cass Street & 
West Cochran Street ...... ..... . .. ................ ... ............. .. .. ..... 1883 

HISTORY OF MIDDLETOWN 

Middletown Delaware, located about 24 miles south of Wilmington, is an 
ear(v crossroads town, one of the old Delaware towns not on a navigable 

waterway. It was originally a tavern stop about half-way on the old ox cart 
road that extends across the peninsula between Appoquinimink Creek and 

Bohemia Landing on the eastern branch of the Bohemia River, thus the 
name, "Middletown". 

Oxen pulled carts loaded with produce and materials between the ports of 
Cantwell 's Bridge (Odessa) and Bohemia Landing (present route 299). 

This was the shortest route from the Atlantic Ocean to the Chespeake Bay 
before the construction of the Chesapeake and Delaware canal. The canal 
is unique as the sole major commercial navigation waterway in the United 

States built during the early 1800s and still in use. 

In 167 5 Adam Peterson took on warrants for the land which later became 
the Town of Middletown. The first survey was made in 1678. Later, his 

widow married David Witherspoon, a native of Londonderry, Ireland and 
they settled upon the King's Highway at the crossroads, first known as 

Mrs. Blackston 's Corner. 

The Witherspoon Tavern (pictured on cover) was built at this site in 1762. 
Afire destroyed the upper portion of the building on February 14, 1946, but 

the first floor remains. The cornerstone is still in the origi11al part of the 
building. 

Middletown was incorporated on February 12, 1861. The first Council 
decided the Town should be one mile square, commencing at the center of 

the crossroads and extending half a mile in each direction. Thus it was 
known as the Diamond Town of the Diamond State. 



SPONSORS & SPECIAL EVENTS 

"Unlacing the Victorian Woman" is pa~tly sponsored by the Delaware 
Humanities Forum, a state program of ihe National Endowment for the 
Humanities. This program will take place at the Forest Presbyterian 

Church at 1:00 p.m. Seating is limited. 

"Trikkiwikkit" a dynamic duo of bag pipe and Irish drum will perform at 
Cochran Square from 10:30 to 11: 15 and at the M 0. T. Senior Center 

from 11:45 to 12:30. They will also stroll around town from 12:45 to 1 :30 
with bag pipes. These performers were sponsored by: PNC Bank, First 
Union Bank, Lacy E. Holly ll1, Esq., Acme Markets, David Matsen, Bay 

Health, Middletown Medical Clinic. 

"Brand New Day Barber Shop Quartet" will pe,form at the Middletown 
Historical Society Museum from 10:00 to 10:20, M 0. T. Senior Center 
from 10:45 to 11 :05, Barber Shop from 11 :30 to 11: 50 and Bay Health 
Middletown Medical Clinic from 12:20 to 12:30. These performers are 

sponsored by Bay Health, Middletown Medical Clinic. 

The Middletown High School Marching Band will perform at 2:00 at 
Cochran Square for the dedication ceremony of the town 's Historical 

Marker. 

Shuttle Bus Transportation is provided by the M 0. T Senior Center 

Flowers donated by Herb and Pat Sharpe, Sharpe Meadows Farm 

THANK YOU 

The Middletown Historical Society wishes to thank all of the home owners 
who have graciously opened their doors to us and the volunteers who have 

acted as hostesses for the day and assisted with many behind the scenes 
details. We would also like to thank those sponsors who allowed us to have 
entertainment and our own Middletown High School Marching Band who 
never fails to help the community. Many thanks to the Mayor and Council 

of Middletown for their support. 

, 13. Richard Marcus and Linda Miller, 11 W. Cochran Street ... .. cl 910 

14. Scot and Anne Butler, 206 S. Broad Street ... ..................... .. 1883 

15. Deborah and Kenneth Sutton, 205 S. Broad Street ... .......... cl 901 

16. Lee and Linda Jennings, 401 S. Broad Street ... ............... ... 1929 

17. The Heam House, 404 S. Broad Street .. : .......................... 1921 

18. M 0. T. Senior Center, South Scott Street ... ..................... 1993 
"Founded in 1967" 

"Lunch servedfrom 11:30 to 1:00" 

19. Old St. Anne's Episcopal Church, Rt. 71 ... ..................... . 1768 
"Transportation to this site, provided by MOT Shuttle" 

20. Cochran Square ... HistoricalMarker Dedication at 2:00 . 

21. Bay Health, Middletown Medical Clinic, 218 E. Main Street ... Bay 
Health wishes to invite all visitors to view their new facility and enjoy light 
refreshments. 

FACILITIES 

Forest Presbyterian'Church #9 
M 0. T. Senior Center # 18 

PARKING 

M 0. T. Senior Center # 18 
Middletown Municipal Lot (beside and behind Forest 

Presbyterian Church #9) 
Bay Health, Middletown Medical Clinic #21 
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b;it many cut through Continued on page .:;A cmo sa1u. 

A historical marker was dedicated at the Four Corners in Middletown on Satur­

day, Oct. 27. Standing in front of the new marker are (left to right) Middletow11 His­

torical Society President Jean Birch, Middletown Mayor Ken Branner, State Sen. 

James Vaughn and State Rep. Bruce Ennis. (photo c;:ourtesy of Valerie Greer) 
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